FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/14/2022 3:24 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/15/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT NO. 101289-6 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 55019-9-II; NO. 55029-6-II

> COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Grays Harbor County Superior Court Nos. 19-1-00802-14; 19-1-00803-14)

ANDREW LARRY SIMMONS and MICHAEL MYRON SIMMONS,
Petitioners (Appellants/Defendants),

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON Respondent (Plaintiff).

# APPELLANTS SIMMONS' PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY SUPREME COURT

Ben D. Cushman
Deschutes Law Group, PLLC
1202 State Ave NE
Olympia, WA 98506
360/464-9007
ben@deschuteslawgroup.com

## 1. Identity of Petitioner

Andrew Simmons and Michael Myron Simmons,
Petitioners, ask the Court to accept review of the decision
designated in Part 2 of this motion.

### 2. Decision

On August, 16, 2022, the Court of Appeals, Div. II, published a decision, under unified case numbers 55019-9-II and 55029-6-II, affirming lower court decisions convicting and affirming the conviction of the Petitioners for violating state game law by harvesting shellfish. Petitioners claim that their shellfish harvest was an exercise of traditional subsistence harvesting as practiced by the Cowlitz people since time immemorial and that the harvest was in a usual an accustomed location of such harvesting.

### 3. Issues Presented for Review

3.1. The decision of the Appellate Court is contrary to Federal Indian Law and the Trust Doctrine as established by the United States Supreme Court.

3.2 The decision of the Appellate Court is contrary to and violates a recent ruling of the Washington Supreme Court recognizing indigenous rights as civil rights entitled to protections under Washington law in addition to the protections provided by Federal Law.

### 4. Statement of the Case

The Defendants/Appellants, Andrew and Michael
Simmons, are enrolled members of the Cowlitz Indian Tribe, a
Federally recognized tribe. There is no formal treaty between the
Cowlitz Tribe and the United States abrogating any indigenous
rights of the Cowlitz People. There is also no Act of Congress
that abrogates any indigenous rights of the Cowlitz People.
There are two Executive Orders that purport to recognize or
abrogate indigenous rights in Southwest Washington, where the
Cowlitz People lived, but these Orders were not ratified or
authorized by Congress.

The Simmons defendants were cited for unlicensed harvesting of shellfish after they were found with fifty razor

clams, over the daily harvest limit of fifteen clams. The Simmons defendants produced their Tribal identification and asserted their right to harvest shellfish within the traditional area where their tribe had harvested shellfish. At trial, the undisputed evidence, presented through a tribal elder, was that the Simmons defendants had harvested clams in a location where the Cowlitz people have historically and traditionally done so.

Based on a misapplication of an 1865 Executive Order and a misinterpretation of the case *Confederated Tribes of Chehalis v. Washington*, 96 F.3d 334 (1996), the District Court convicted the Defendants of unlawful shellfish harvesting. The Superior Court affirmed the conviction on the grounds that *Confederated Tribes* was binding and dispositive authority, having the effect of abrogating the shellfishing rights of the Cowlitz People and therefore invalidating the right claim raised by the Simmons defendants. The Superior Court did not address the Simmons' argument that they have rights protected by Washington State civil rights law in addition to any Federal rights addressed in

Confederated Tribes. (Confederated Tribes did not address any issues of state civil rights.) State v. Towessnute, 197 Wn.2d 574, 486 P.3d 111 (2021). Further, the Superior Court uncritically applied Confederated Tribes even though it is uncontested that Confederated Tribes relied on the effectiveness of an Executive Order, without any applicable treaty or Act of Congress, and even though the United States Supreme Court recently ruled that the rights of indigenous people cannot be abrogated by Executive Order unsupported by Treaty or Act of Congress. McGirt v. Oklahoma, 591 U.S. , 140 S. Ct. 2452 (July 9, 2020).

The Court of Appeals repeated the errors of the lower Courts. The Court of Appeals distinguished *State v. Towessnute*, 197 Wn.2d 574, 486 P.3d 111 (2021) on the grounds that the Yakama rights were reserved in a treaty while the Cowlitz have no treaty. However, this is a distinction with no legal force. A right reserved in a treaty is a right the treaty tribe had before the treaty and kept despite giving up other rights in the treaty. That is how reserved rights work. The Court of Appeals also applied

Confederated Tribes despite Confederated Tribes being decided under a special exception to the generally applicable Canons of Federal Indian Law, which does not apply in this case. The error made by all the lower courts is a fundamental error in Federal Indian Law about how tribes have and lose rights.

### 5. Argument

The Appellate Court decision, confirming the conviction of the Simmons Defendants for unlawful shellfish harvesting, is error under both state and Federal law. It conflicts with fundamental principles of Indian Rights under both early and recent decisions of the United States Supreme Court. Further, it is serious error that impairs the core rights of indigenous people throughout Washington (or, read as narrowly as possible, Southwest Washington). Finally, it disregards the recent actions of the Washington State Supreme Court to recognize and respect Tribal rights and reset the fraught history of the relations of the State of Washington and the various Indian tribes within its

borders. Therefore, review is appropriate and should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

# 5.1 The Issues Raised Present Important State-Wide Issues of Law that Substantially Impair the Rights of Indigenous People.

Hunting and fishing (including shellfish gathering) rights are core rights of indigenous people. They involve activities central to the life ways of indigenous people and to indigenous cultures. The Cowlitz Tribe are Coastal Salish people (also called the "Salmon People of the Northwest") whose way of life centers on hunting, shellfish gathering, and fishing.

Federal law recognizes that indigenous people have hunting, gathering, and fishing rights and that those rights are so central that they are always among the reserved rights maintained by such people, even when other rights are abrogated by treaty. Hunting rights extend to a right to hunt, without being subject to state hunting laws, in all "open and unclaimed lands" (generally – public lands, which is approximately 43% of the land in Washington state, totaling approximately 19.8 million acres).

Fishing rights, including shellfish harvesting rights, are not limited to public lands, but are limited to the "usual and accustomed places" of the Tribe asserting the right. Shellfish gathering rights have been treated as fishing rights on this approach. *United States v. Washington II*, 873 F.Supp. 1422, 1441 (W.D.Wash.1994), aff'd 157 F.3d 630, 643 (9th Cir. *1998*), cert, denied, 119 S. Ct. 1376 (1999).

As a practical matter, every shellfish beach and all fishbearing, navigable waters in and near the coast of Washington
State is the usual and accustomed place for some fishing or shellfishing activity of a Washington tribe. The ruling in this case invalidates these core rights of the Cowlitz Tribe and its members, including the Petitioners. In reaching that ruling, the Appeals Court ignored more recent United States Supreme Court authority and further waved-away recent Washington Supreme Court authority that provided for state civil rights basis for indigenous rights different supplemental to any rights under Federal Law.

### 5.2 Canons of Federal Indian Law.

American Indian Tribes, and their enrolled members, have a special legal status in American law. This special status applies particularly to the application of state law to enrolled tribal members. There are two over-arching principles: (1) the plenary power of Congress (and only Congress, to the exclusion of the Executive Branch of government or state governments) under the "Indian Commerce Clause" (Art. 1, Sec. 8, Clause 3) of the U.S. Constitution, and (2) the default "trust obligations" of the U.S. Government owed to Indians and Indian Tribes. The District and Superior Courts' failures to apply these black-letter legal principles resulted in its erroneous conviction of the Simmons defendants.

The ultimate foundation of American Indian law is the "Marshall Trilogy" of cases – *Johnson v. M'Intosh*, 21 U.S. (8 Wheat) 543 (1823); *Cherokee Nation v. Georgia*, 30 U.S. (5. Pet.) 1 (1831); and *Worcester v. Georgia*, 31 U.S. (6 Pet.) 515 (1832). Chief Justice Marshall's opinions in those cases

declared critical and longstanding rules that determine the relationship between the Federal government, states, and Indian Tribes. More critically, the Trilogy provided a legal framework for analyzing and interpreting the law with regard to Indians and Indian Tribes. The Court failed to apply this framework, and that failure is clear error.

Johnson announced the "Doctrine of Discovery" as the foundation for land titles in the United States. *M'Intosh, Id.*, at 574. The *Marshall* Court held that Indian Tribes did not own the land in fee title. Rather, the European nations and their American successors acquired fee simple title in the land by virtue of discovering the land. However, the Court announced that Indian Tribes did have the right of possession and use and that this right could be extinguished *only by the Federal government through* purchase or conquest. *M'Intosh* at 574. While this, at first glance, seems like a sweeping divestiture of Indian rights, it is actually a limited and circumspect one. Unless there is a Federal statute, enacted by Congress under the Indian Commerce Clause,

Indians and Indian Tribes are presumed to retain their rights, including the right to use and occupy land, except when they directly conflict with the enumerated powers of the Federal government.

Tribal powers are not implicitly divested by virtue of the Tribes' dependent status. This Court has found such a divestiture in cases where the exercise of tribal sovereignty would be inconsistent with the overriding interests of the National Government, as when the Tribes seek to engage in foreign relations, alienate their lands to non-Indians without Federal consent, or prosecute non-Indians in tribal courts which do not accord the full protections of the Bill of Rights.

Washington v. Confederated Tribes of the Colville Indian Reservation, 447 U.S. 134, 153 (1980) (emphasis added).

This conclusion is reinforced by the second of the Marshall

Trilogy cases – *Cherokee Nation, supra. Cherokee Nation* held
that Indian Tribes were not "foreign nations." Rather, while
Indian Tribes retained aspects of nationality, they were a
unique category of state called "domestic dependent nations."

The conclusion is that Indian Tribes are "dependent" on the

United States, creating a special trust relationship between the United States and the Indian Tribes within its borders.

Subject only to statutes passed by Congress under its Indian Commerce Clause plenary power, all laws and regulations that affect or could affect Indians and Indian Tribes must be interpreted through this lens of trustee/beneficiary status.

Specifically, all Executive Orders must be interpreted as actions of a trustee serving the interests of a beneficiary and all state law must be interpreted as subordinate both to Federal law and to this Federal/Tribal relationship. Further, States do not have the power to abrogate indigenous rights at all.

That final implication was elaborated in the final case in the Trilogy, Justice Marshall ruled that that the laws of the State of Georgia do not extend into Indian Country where they conflict with indigenous rights. *Worcester, supra,* laid the framework for analyzing disputes involving Indian Tribes by looking first to Indian treaties and then Acts of Congress. Further, this framework implies that Indians and Indian Tribes have pre-

existing rights, and, through treaties, may alienate some rights while reserving others. The most obvious of these reserved rights is the right to land – called a "Reservation" – which is land reserved to the Indian Tribe when it gives up its other land within its historical range. However, hunting, fishing, and other rights are also part of the "use rights" of Indians and Indian Tribes and are reserved by them unless expressly relinquished by a Treaty or taken by an Act of Congress.

Based on the Marshall Trilogy, all claims of Tribal Rights must be analyzed through a prescribed legal framework, and it is error for a court (as here) to depart from that framework. First, Indians had unrestricted use and occupancy rights and reserve those rights unless divested of them by Act of Congress.

M'Intosh, supra, at 574. Second, Federal authority in the field of Indian affairs is both exclusive (Federal Constitutional Supremacy) and plenary (Indian Commerce Clause, when exercised by Congress). Worcester, supra at 561. Third, Indian Tribes are nations and otherwise retain their sovereign

authority and rights (including use and occupancy rights to land and resources). *Cherokee Nation, supra,* at 15-20.

Further, any such loss of indigenous rights is limited by the Federal Government's trust obligations. (See, for example, *United States v. Kagama*, 118 US. 375 at 384 (1886).) This rule has two corollaries. First, executive orders, and any other law or regulation, other than an Act of Congress under the Indian Commerce Clause, must be interpreted as the Indians would have understood it and with the recognition that the Indians are presumed to be the beneficiaries of such actions by the government. *Cherokee* Nation, supra, at 17-18. This means that any law allegedly abrogating Indian rights must do so explicitly. There is no tacit abrogation by general law. Second, Tribes are not granted rights by treaty. Rather, they reserve some rights by treaty and give up other rights through treaty. Therefore, absent an Act of Congress, a tribe without a treaty has all the rights that could have been reserved by it through a treaty.

(See, for example, *United States v. Idaho*, 533 U.S. 262 (2001).) In this case, the Court of Appeals itself points out that the treaty negotiation with the Cowlitz, although it did not result in a treaty, was conducted on the basis of the recognition of Cowlitz territorial, hunting, gathering, and fishing rights, which were never removed by Act of Congress or Treaty. (Decision at p.2.) However, as a right the Cowlitz brought into treaty-making, that could be reserved by treaty, the Cowlitz retain this right after treaty-making failed to produce a treaty.

Indian reserved rights are founded on the occupancy and use of the land prior to its being part of the United States. That is, indigenous people had an established way of life and have the right to maintain those life-ways on and within their traditional lands (and not just on the lands reserved within the boundaries of an established reservation). It is well-established that hunting or fishing was an integral part of the Indian way of life. Thus, hunting and fishing rights are presumed to be reserved

rights that. persist unless surrendered by treaty or divested by Act of Congress, neither of which has happened.

For example, in *Pioneer Packing* Co. *v. Winslow*, 159 Wash. 655, 294 P. 557 (1930), the Court held that Indians own reservation fish "by the same title and in the same right as they owned them prior to the time of the making of the treaty." Further, treaties provide for retention by the Indians of hunting and fishing rights, both on and off the reservation, indicating that hunting and fishing rights are a part of the aboriginal title which may be ceded by treaty or reserved by the Indians. Once established, an extinguishment of Indian rights "cannot be lightly implied." *United States v. Santa Fe Pac.* R. Co., 314 U.S. 339, 62 S. Ct. 248, 86 L. Ed. 260 (1941).

The most definitive treatment of this subject is in the seminal case *State v. Coffee*, 97 Id. 1185, 556 P.2d 905 (1976). The rights involved in that case are almost exactly analogous to

the rights involved in this case – although the result of the cases are different as a result of differences in facts of the cases. In Coffee, an enrolled member of the Kootenai tribe was convicted of unlicensed killing of deer when she hunted on private land in Idaho. Like the Cowlitz Tribe, the Kootenai Tribe was a recognized Indian Tribe but did not have a formal treaty with the United States. Like the Cowlitz Tribe, the Kootenai Tribe were subsequently assigned to a treaty group. Indian treaty-making in Idaho and Washington occurred at the same historical moment – and used the same treaty template. That template reserved Indian hunting rights to "open and unclaimed land" and fishing rights (including shell-fishing) to "usual and accustomed places." In Coffee, Id., the Court ruled that the reserved rights of non-treaty tribes, such as the Cowlitz and Kootenai, is co-extensive with the rights reserved in treaties by treaty tribes. The reasoning is that, because treaty tribes had those pre-existing rights to reserve and, by reserving them, did not give them up, a non-treaty tribe must also retain those rights. Coffee was convicted because, although

she had a reserved right to hunt on "open and unclaimed lands" without a license or other special grant from the State of Idaho, she had hunted on private, regulated lands, where there was no reserved right to hunt. If she had hunted on public lands – open and unclaimed lands – she would have been within her rights and the conviction would have been overturned.

The Boldt Decision established Indian reserved rights to fish in their usual and accustomed places. *United States v. Washington I*, 384 F. Supp. 312 (W.D. Wash. 1974), aff'd, 520

F.2d 676 (9th Cir. 1975). This has since been clarified to include the reserved right to harvest shellfish in all usual and accustomed places, including (unlike hunting rights) on private lands, excluding only cultivated, artificial shellfish farms. *United States v. Washington II*, 873 F.Supp. 1422, 1441 (W.D.Wash.1994), aff'd 157 F.3d 630, 643 (9th Cir. *1998*), cert, denied, 119 S. Ct. 1376 (1999). Therefore, just as Coffee would not have been subject to conviction for hunting a deer if she had done so on open and unclaimed lands, the Simmons defendants should not

be subject to conviction for harvesting shellfish in one of the usual and accustomed places for shellfish harvesting by the Cowlitz Tribe.

# 5.3 The Court of Appeals Decision is Erroneous under Federal Indian Law.

The ruling here rests on misreading of *Confederated Tribes* of *Chehalis v. Washington*, 96 F.3d 334 (1996). *Confederated Tribes of Chehalis v. Washington* is not solid ground for any ruling in this case, given both the procedural posture and reasoning in the decision and subsequent rulings of the United States and Washington Supreme Courts.

First, the ruling is contrary to the internal logic of *Confederated Tribes, Id. Confederated Tribes*. Unlike the current case, in which members of the Cowlitz Tribe were asserting their own reserved fishing rights, *Confederated Tribes* involved a claim by the Chehalis Tribe that they had come to possess fishing rights reserved by the Quinault treaty tribes in the Quinault treaty even though the Chehalis were not signatories to that treaty.

Like the Cowlitz, the Chehalis were removed from their ancestral lands in Southwest Washington and settled on the Quinault reservation – later receiving allotments on that reservation. Recently, repatriation of the tribes of Southwest Washington has begun, with the tribes receiving reservation lands in Southwest Washington and returning home from the Quinault reservation. While settled on the Quinault reservation, the tribes of Southwest Washington received enrollment documents from the reservation where they lived and continued to practice hunting, gathering, and fishing practices, although the location of those practices were in northwest Washington near the reservation to which they had been removed. The current case involves exchange of one injustice for another (stripping the tribes of Southwest Washington of their culturally-important hunting, gathering, and fishing rights, as an unintended consequence of repatriating them to their homeland). Neither injustice is necessary and both are contrary to applicable law.

The critical and misapplied issue in *Confederated Tribes* was that the Chehalis asserted the rights reserved by the Quinault treaty tribes despite the objection of the Quinault treaty tribes, who intervened as parties in the *Confederated Tribes*. This was understandable because the Chehalis had exercised those rights for more than a century – but, as a matter of history and law, those rights were Quinault rights and not Chehalis rights.

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