FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/12/2022 1:33 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1012896

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

ANDREW LARRY SIMMONS and MICHAEL MYRON SIMMONS,
Petitioners.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

THE HONORABLE DAVID L. EDWARDS, JUDGE

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NORMA J. TILLOTSON Prosecuting Attorney for Grays Harbor County

By: L

WILLIAM A. LERAAS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA #15489

OFFICE AND POST OFFICE ADDRESS Grays Harbor County Prosecuting Attorney 102 West Broadway Room 102 Montesano, WA 98563

(360) 249-3951

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

As noted by the court of appeals in its decision below:

Confederated Tribes involved several alternative claims by the tribes. See generally, 96 F.3d 334. One of these involved a claim by the Chehalis Tribe that they possessed the treaty fishing rights of the Quinault because of their historical connection with the Quinault. Id. at 340. Because this claim involved the conflicting interests of two different tribes, the Chehalis and the Quinault, the court reasonably concluded it could not apply the typical canon of tribal preference to that specific claim – which tribe, for example, would receive the preference? See id. at 340-41.

However, this argument that created a conflict between the tribes was only one discrete legal issue in *Confederated Tribes*. As explained above, the case also addressed, as a completely separate issue, the aboriginal rights of the Confederated Tribes. There was no conflict between the plaintiff tribes and the Quinault with regard to the aboriginal rights issue, and on that issue, the court was silent as to any rejection of the canon of tribal preference. *Id.* at 341-42. *Petitioners provide no convincing basis to reject the application of Confederated Tribes to this case.*

Simmons, 2022 WL 3365394 at 12 (emphasis added).

The Shoalwater and Confederated Tribes' decisions regarding the extinguishment of the Cowlitz Tribes aboriginal title is sound and there is simply no room to read the decisions in the hyper-deferential manner Petitioners suggest so as to arrive at any different result. Petitioners cannot and do not undermine the holding in Confederated Tribes as it pertains to aboriginal fishing rights, and fail to show that the trial court misread the Confederated Tribes decision, or failed to differentiate between the legal theories. The trial court specified that it found no meaningful difference between the tribes "for purposes of aboriginal fishing rights" (CP 43) and made no

reliance on either of the alternative legal theories with less connection to the Cowlitz Tribe. The district court correctly relied on *Confederated Tribes* in denying the Petitioner's motion to dismiss.

C. The Federal Government Extinguished the Cowlitz Aboriginal Title, and With It, Hunting and Fishing Rights

No treaty between the Cowlitz Tribe and the United States reserves any indigenous rights of the Cowlitz People. Therefore, any rights still enjoyed by the tribe or tribal members must be tied to the existence of aboriginal title. "Aboriginal title refers to the right of the original inhabitants of the United States to use and occupy their aboriginal territory." *Tee-Hit-Ton Indians v. United States*, 348 U.S. 272, 279, 75 S.Ct. 313, 317, 99 L.Ed. 314 (1955). Indian title based on aboriginal possession is a permissive right of occupancy. *Wahkiakum Band of Chinook Indians v. Bateman*, 655 F.2d 176, 180 (9th Cir. 1981) (citing *Tee-Hit-Ton Indians*, 348 U.S. at 279). That aboriginal title can be extinguished, as it "exists at

the pleasure of the United States, and may be extinguished by treaty, by the sword, by purchase, by the exercise of complete dominion adverse to the right of occupancy or otherwise."

United States v. Santa Fe Pacific R.R. Co., 314 U.S. 339, 347, 62 S.Ct. 248, 252, 86 L.Ed. 260 (1941). The power of Congress in this regard is supreme and the manner, method, and time of such extinguishment raise political issues. *Id*.

Extinguishment of aboriginal title invariably terminates corresponding use and occupancy rights, including hunting and fishing rights, except where a treaty, statute or executive order expressly or impliedly reserves such rights. *Western Shoshone National Council v. Molini*, 951 F.2d 200, 202 (9th Cir. 1991), *cert. denied*, 113 S. Ct. 74 (1992); *United States v. Dann*, 873 F.2d 1189 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 890 (1989); *see also United States v. Minnesota*, 466 F. Supp. 1382 (D. Minn. 1979), *aff'd sub nom. Red Lake Band of Chippewa Indians v. Minnesota*, 614 F.2d 1161 (8th Cir.), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 905 (1980) (aboriginal hunting and fishing rights are "mere

incidents of Indian title, not rights separate from Indian title").

D. The Cowlitz Tribe Adjudicated the Extinguishment of Its Aboriginal Title before the Indian Claims Commission.

Congress passed the Indian Claims Commission Act in 1946, establishing the Indian Claims Commission (ICC) to settle claims against the U.S. Government including whether aboriginal titles and corresponding rights had been extinguished without fair compensation. 25 U.S.C. § 70a (suppl. 2 1958). Congress deliberately used broad terminology in the Act in order to permit tribes to bring all potential historical claims and to thereby prevent them from returning to Congress to lobby for further redress. *Oglala Sioux Tribe of Pine Ridge Indian Reservation v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers*, 570 F.3d 327, 331 (D.C. Cir. 2009).

In *Molini*, the Court relied on payment of an ICC claim by Congress as "ratification" of the claim that aboriginal title had been taken and extinguished. *Molini*, 951 F.2d at 203; *U.S. v. Gemmill*, 535 F.2d 1145, 1147 (9th Cir. 1976) ("[A]ny

ambiguity about extinguishment that may have remained after the establishment of the forest reserves, has been decisively resolved by congressional payment of compensation to the Pit River Indians for these lands."); *In Re Wilson*, 634 P.2d 363, 368, 177 Cal. Rptr. 336 (1981) (ICC finding and settlement resolved extinguishment of Pit River Indian title).

The question of whether the Cowlitz Tribe's aboriginal title had been extinguished, and if so when, reached the ICC in the late 1960s. The ICC looked at several factors, including several acts of Congress that had the effect of extinguishing the tribe's aboriginal title, discussed further below. Ultimately, the ICC determined a Presidential Proclamation on March 20, 1863, ordering unoccupied public land in the Washington Territory to be sold, operated as the key federal action to deprive the tribe of its aboriginal title to that land. 25 Ind. Cl. Comm. 442, 443 (1971).⁵

⁵ The ICC first ruled that 1855, when treaty negotiations ended, marked the end of aboriginal title, but on reconsideration adjusted its finding to 1863 and the date of the Presidential Proclamation.

1. The Indian Claims Commission identified Congressional intent and executive actions extinguishing aboriginal title in southwest Washington

Specifically, the ICC pointed to the June 5, 1850, Act Authorizing the Negotiation of Treaties with the Indian Tribes in the Territory of Oregon, for the Extinguishment of their Claims to Lands lying west of the Cascade Mountains (9 Stat. 437), stating that all aboriginal claims to land of all tribes west of the Cascade Mountains should be extinguished by treaty, and the September 27, 1850, "Act to Create the Office of Surveyor General of the Public Lands in Oregon, and to Provide for the Survey, and to Make Donations to the Settlers of the said Public Lands" (9 Stat. 496), wherein Congress created in the executive branch the Office of Surveyor General of Oregon Territory and directed the office to survey the lands located west of the Cascade Mountains. 25 Ind. Cl. Comm. at 449. On February 14, 1853, Congress amended that act, declaring that by April of 1855, all the lands west of the Cascades were to become subject

to public sale, and directing the President to order such disposal and sale. 10 Stat. 158.

"Rather than negotiating treaties with these tribes,

Congress now intended that their aboriginal title be
extinguished by their removal from their lands." 25 Ind. Cl.

Comm. at 450-51.

The Commission chose the Presidential Proclamation on March 20, 1863, where President Lincoln announced the public sale by the Land Office of the surveyed public lands of the Washington Territory, as the effective date of extinguishment:

Although neither the change in congressional intent alone nor the establishment of the Chehalis Reservation were sufficient to extinguish Cowlitz Title, when to these was added the public offering for sale of Cowlitz land by the defendant as evidenced by the Presidential Proclamation of March 20, 1863, an extinguishment of title did take place. In offering the Cowlitz lands for sale, [the United States] was taking an action which indicated that it no longer considered that Indian title existed on the land.

Id. at 450.

2. The Cowlitz Indian Claims Commission decision is sound—it has been challenged, upheld, and cited in subsequent federal decisions

The Cowlitz Tribe appealed the Indian Claims Commission's decision to the U.S. Court of Claims; ultimately, the Court upheld the decision of the ICC. Plamondon ex rel. Cowlitz Tribe of Indians v. U.S., 467 F.2d 935 (Ct. Cl. 1972). The Cowlitz Tribe made the same arguments Petitioners make in this matter—no treaty was ever made with the Cowlitz, there was no removal of the tribe from its ancestral home, the Cowlitz never accepted a reservation from the United States, and the 1863 order was ineffective to extinguish aboriginal rights. The reviewing court determined "We need not decide whether taken singly, the change in congressional intent, the establishment of the Chehalis Reservation, or the Presidential Proclamation of March 20, 1863, would be sufficient to extinguish Cowlitz title. We agree with the Commission that all three together are clearly sufficient." *Id.* at 937. The next year, the ICC entered judgment in favor of the Cowlitz for \$1,550,000. 30 Ind. Cl. Comm. 129, 143 (April 12, 1973).

E. Petitioners Misapply Existing Law

Petitioners rely on *State v. Coffee* for the proposition that rights of non-treaty tribes are co-extensive with the rights reserved in treaties by treaty tribes. But that reliance is misplaced, as *Coffee* expressly states the aboriginal title of the Kootenai was extinguished; the decision pertains to hunting rights retained in a treaty the tribe did not sign where the land at issue was ceded to the government. State v. Coffee, 97 Idaho 905, 909-913, 556 P.2d 1185, 1189 (1976). In the case at hand, Petitioners cannot point to any treaty by any tribe that might possibly reserve hunting rights in southwest Washington because the aboriginal lands of the Cowlitz Tribe and others were not ceded to the U.S. Government by any tribe, but were taken through the direct acts and intentions of Congress and the federal government in the 1850s and 1860s to open the land for

sale. See *United States v. Santa Fe Pacific R.R. Co.*, 314 U.S. 339, 62 S.Ct. 248, 86 L.Ed. 260 (1941).

The only way *Coffee* helps the present inquiry at all is as a further example that courts rely upon the rulings of the ICC, such as the decision determination that the aboriginal title of the Idaho Kootenai tribe had been extinguished when other tribes ceded their land. The *Coffee* court said "We have examined the analysis of the Commission and we are in agreement with its conclusion." *Id*.

Petitioners argue that *McGirt v. Oklaho*ma, ___ U.S. ___,

140 S.Ct. 2452, 207 L.Ed.2d 985 (July 9, 2020) has

unequivocally stated that the Indian Commerce Clause

authority lies entirely with Congress and in conflict with

executive branch authority. This is simply a misreading and

stretching of *McGirt* beyond the ruling or issues presented to

the U.S. Supreme Court. The *McGirt* Court specifically

addressed the creation of reservations, and of the federal

government's violation of promises made to tribes through

treaties and acts of Congress. *McGirt* never once mentions aboriginal rights.

As the Cowlitz do not have a treaty with the United States and the land where Petitioners harvested shellfish was never part of a Cowlitz reservation, *McGirt* is simply not applicable.

Similarly, Petitioners' suggestion that Washington
Supreme Court's 2020 *Towessnute* Order (Order Recalling
Mandate, No. 13 083-3, July 10, 2020, order to publish April
26, 2021) supports the expansion of aboriginal rights or creates
a new lens with which to view treaty or aboriginal rights is
misplaced (*Towessnute* is apparently the Supreme Court case
Petitioners claim the decision below conflicts with for purposes
of RAP 13.4(b)(1)). Petitioners argue that the *Towessnute*Order "included State civil right and due process considerations
in its ruling and did not merely limit its ruling to the strict and
rigid confines of Federal Indian Law." Petition for Review, 27.
There is no reference in the *Towessnute* Order to state civil

rights or due process law. The Court's order in 2020 corrected a historic wrong based on three epic failings 104 years earlier—a disrespect for federal treaties as the supreme law of the land; failure to honor the treaty language that would later be definitively interpreted by the Boldt Decision; and, repudiation of ignorant, condescending, and racist language used in the original 1916 *Towessnute* opinion. The *Towessnute* Order did not create new jurisprudence—it simply addressed prior poor jurisprudence connected to federal treaty rights, not aboriginal rights. As noted by the court of appeals in its decision below:

The court determined that the decision against the tribal member was an example of racial injustice as well as a result of a fundamental misunderstanding of the nature of treaties and the concept of tribal sovereignty.

We agree that much of the historical mistreatment of indigenous peoples in this country has been a product of racial prejudice. But nothing in the *Towessnute* decision permits us to change the outcome here. *Towessnute* involved a member of the Yakama tribe charged with fishing crimes despite the fact that the Yakama tribe had offreservation rights to fish *by virtue of their treaty*. Here, there was no treaty, and as explained above,

the off-reservation rights of the Cowlitz Tribe to fish have been extinguished. Accordingly, we determine this argument fails.

Simmons, 2022 WL 3365394 at 13 (citations omitted; emphasis in the original).

V. CONCLUSION

Petitioners, Cowlitz tribal members, do not enjoy off-reservation fishing rights because such aboriginal rights have not been reserved through any treaty or any federal action. The aboriginal fishing rights of the tribe and the Petitioners existed as use and occupancy rights tied to the tribe's aboriginal title to lands in southwest Washington. The federal government extinguished that aboriginal title in 1863 when the unoccupied lands of southwest Washington were designated for sale by executive order.

The Ninth Circuit relied on this basic fact, that aboriginal title held by the Cowlitz, Chehalis, Shoalwater, and several other tribes in southwest Washington was extinguished in the 1860s, when it ruled in *Confederated Tribes* that these tribes

had no off-reservation fishing rights. The Grays Harbor District Court properly considered that ruling and applied the law and facts to the Petitioner's case, denying their defense and finding them guilty of unlawful recreational fishing.

The thorough record of the adjudication establishes that, contrary to the argument of the Petitioners, the aboriginal right to fish off-reservation simply does not exist for members of the Cowlitz Tribe.

The decision below does not conflict with any previous decision of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1). The petition does not present a *significant* question of law under the state or federal constitutions under RAP 13.4(b)(3) given the extensive litigation and adjudication settling this issue in the federal courts. Nor does the petition present an issue of *substantial public interest* that should be decided by *this* Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). The Cowlitz Tribe has never been a party to this case and is not seeking review; this case involves and affects only the petitioners as individual defendants. Issues such as

these – aboriginal and off-reservation fishing rights, are more properly dealt with by the federal courts, which have viewed this issue as settled. The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari in *Confederated Tribes*. 520 U.S. 1168 (1997). In *Snoqualmie Indian Tribe v. Washington*, 8 F.4th 853 (9th Cir. 2021), *cert. denied sub nom., Samish Indian Nation v. Washington*, __U.S.__, 212 L. Ed. 2d 327, 142 S. Ct. 1371 (2022), the court dismissed a claim of aboriginal hunting rights on *res judicata* grounds as aboriginal fishing rights were previously determined not to exist as the tribe was a non-treating tribe.

As a published decision, the decision of the court of appeals below stands as binding legal authority in the State of Washington.

The Petition for Review should be denied.

This document contains 4985 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.